2004

Michael T. Bilanzich v. John Lonetti, an individual,
Eunes I. Lonetti, an individual, and JDL Holdings,
L.C., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

II.

Did the trial court commit error in ruling that Plaintiff/Appellant Michael T. Bilanzich (“Bilanzich”) is not entitled to recover his attorney’s fees incurred in these consolidated actions under the Guaranty executed by Bilanzich and the Note that

Bilanzich guaranteed on the basis that the court had previously held that the Guaranty was unenforceable because a condition precedent to Bilanzich's liability on the Guaranty had not occurred? This issue presents a question of law and the trial court's decision is reviewed for correctness. *Aurora Credit Servs., Inc. v. Liberty W. Dev., Inc.*, 970 P.2d 1273, 1277 (Utah 1998).

This issue was preserved below. [R. 2527-2536]

III.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56.5 is determinative of this case. That statute provides:

A court may award costs and attorney's fees to either party that prevails in a civil action based upon any promissory note, written contract, or other writing executed after April 28, 1986 where the provisions of the promissory note, written contract, or other writing allow at least one party to recover attorney's fees.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

This case arose out of the efforts of Reese's Enterprise, Inc. ("REI") to develop a motel near the entrance of Zions National Park and Bilanzich's execution of a Guaranty

of a Note executed by REI in favor of John and Eunes Lonetti (the “Lonettis”) which was assigned to JDL Holdings, L.C. (“JDL”) of which they are the sole members.

Bilanzich commenced this action in August, 2000. [R. 1] Bilanzich’s Second Amended Complaint asserted a claim for declaratory relief against the Lonettis and JDL that Bilanzich was not liable under the Guaranty because REI had never obtained a \$3.5 Million loan, which was a condition precedent to Bilanzich’s liability on the Guaranty. Bilanzich also sought rescission of the Guaranty on that same basis and upon other grounds, including fraud, and asserted a claim for unjust enrichment. [R. 1306-1330]

JDL filed a separate action against Bilanzich (the “JDL Action”), seeking to recover on the Guaranty. [R. 2499] The JDL Action was consolidated with the Bilanzich case. [R. 671]

On August 15, 2003, Bilanzich filed a motion for partial summary judgment against the Lonettis and JDL both on JDL’s complaint against Bilanzich on the Guaranty and on Bilanzich’s declaratory relief claim. [R. 1725] Bilanzich contended that as a matter of law the Guaranty was not enforceable against Bilanzich because a condition precedent to Bilanzich’s liability under the Guaranty was that REI obtain a \$3.5 Million construction loan, which condition precedent had never occurred. [R. 1728-1739] The Lonettis and JDL opposed the partial summary judgment motion on the ground that

Bilanzich was not a party to the Term Sheet and that the Guaranty was unconditional. [R. 2082-2090]

On December 15, 2003, the trial court granted partial summary judgment, determining that the Guaranty was unenforceable because the condition precedent to Bilanzich's liability thereunder that REI would obtain the \$3.5 Million construction loan had never occurred. [R. 2221-2223] The Lonettis and JDL have not appealed this decision. On March 9, 2004, pursuant to Rule 54(b), the district court entered final judgment in favor of Bilanzich on his declaratory relief claim and on JDL's claim against Bilanzich on the Guaranty. [R. 2424] Thereafter, Bilanzich agreed with the Lonettis and JDL to dismiss his rescission and unjust enrichment claims and the Lonettis agreed to waive their right to appeal the judgment. [R. 2409; 2421; 2435]

Bilanzich filed a motion for an award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the Guaranty. [R. 2385] The Lonettis and JDL opposed the motion on the basis that: (1) Bilanzich was not a party to the Note; (2) the Guaranty supposedly did not contain an attorney's fee provision; (3) the claim for the attorney fees and costs was supposedly contrary to a settlement with the Lonettis and JDL (even though there was no agreement whatsoever to waive attorney's fees and costs); and (4) the amount claimed was not reasonable. [R. 2427-2438]

The court held a hearing on the attorney's fee motion on May 4, 2004. At the hearing, Judge Shumate stated that the Guaranty did in fact provide for attorney's fees. [R. 2248 at 2-3] However, Judge Shumate asked for supplemental briefing on the issue of whether the court could award attorney's fees when the court had already determined that the Guaranty was unenforceable against Bilanzich because the condition precedent had not occurred. [*Id.* at 5] The parties subsequently filed supplemental memoranda on this issue. [R. 2520; 2527]

Judge Shumate issued a Minute Entry filed June 23, 2004, denying the motion for attorney's fees and striking the scheduled June 29, 2004 hearing. [R. 2560] Bilanzich filed a Notice of Appeal on July 7, 2004 and an Amended Notice of Appeal on July 14, 2004. [R. 2562]

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant REI was developing a motel near the entrance to Zions National Park in Springdale, Utah. On December 31, 1996, the Lonettis made a loan to REI with respect to the project. REI executed a \$1,780,600.00 Trust Deed Note (the "Note") in favor of the Lonettis and a Deed of Trust encumbering the motel property as security for repayment of the Note. [R. 1822; 2389]

2. On April 5, 1998, REI and the Lonettis signed a written Agreement modifying certain provisions of the Note and increasing the outstanding balance of the Note to

\$2,167,717.00. The modification contained the following reciprocal attorney's fee provision: "If any action is instituted with respect to this Agreement or supporting documents, the prevailing party shall be entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs to be paid by the other parties." [R. 1822-1823; 2389; 2397-2399]

3. The Lonettis subsequently filed suit against REI to foreclose their Deed of Trust and collect the Note. [R. 2084-2085]

4. The Lonettis and REI thereafter entered into a settlement agreement. Under the agreement, at closing the Note was to be reduced by a \$250,000.00 payment, the Lonettis were to receive personal guarantees of Bilanzich and an REI principal, and the Lonettis were to subordinate their Deed of Trust to a maximum \$3.5 Million Trust Deed in favor of an institutional lender. [R. 1730-1731; 1823]¹

5. On September 20, 1999, REI, the Lonettis and Bilanzich entered into a written agreement entitled "Term Sheet". [R. 2083] As part of this agreement, REI was to obtain Bilanzich's personal Guaranty of the Note that would be released to the Lonettis at closing. The Term Sheet specifically provided that "[t]he closing is contingent on financing being obtained by REI from an institutional lender" in the amount of \$3.5 Million. The Term Sheet further provided that "[i]f financing is not obtained, the closing

¹ Another alternative under the agreement was that REI would pay the Lonettis in full at closing. That did not occur.

will not occur, all items in escrow will be returned to the party depositing them, and Lonetti will foreclose and realize on the security.” [R. 1730-1731]

6. On September 30, 1999, Bilanzich executed a Guaranty of the Note in favor of the Lonettis which was deposited in escrow. [R. 2401]

7. REI never obtained a \$3.5 Million loan. Instead, only \$300,000.00 was ever disbursed by the lender. [R. 1732] Despite that fact, the Bilanzich Guaranty was released from escrow. [R. 2084-2085] The Guaranty contained the following attorney’s fee provision:

This Guaranty includes all principal, interest, costs, expenses and attorney’s fees incurred in collection of the Note and in realization of the security. [R. 2108]

8. The Lonettis subsequently assigned all their rights with respect to the REI Note and Deed of Trust and the Bilanzich Guaranty to JDL. [R. 1734]

9. REI filed bankruptcy in Nevada. JDL successfully moved for relief from stay in that bankruptcy to foreclose its Deed of Trust on the REI property. In connection with that motion, John Lonetti testified under oath in his affidavit and Lonettis’ counsel argued to the bankruptcy court, that the Subordination Agreement the Lonettis had executed subordinating to the \$3.5 Million loan was not effective because the loan was never fully funded. [R. 1732-1734]

V.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Both the Guaranty and the Note included attorney's fees provisions pursuant to which the Lonettis and JDL would have been entitled to recover attorney's fees had they prevailed in their attempt to recover from Bilanzich on the Guaranty. Thus, under the reciprocal provisions of Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56.5, Bilanzich is entitled to recover attorney's fees.

The fact that Judge Shumate granted summary judgment in favor of Bilanzich determining he was not liable on his Guaranty because a condition precedent to enforcement of the Guaranty - - funding of the \$3.5 Million construction loan - - had not occurred does not render the attorney's fees provision unenforceable. Judge Shumate did not rescind the Guaranty but only held that the condition precedent had not occurred and, therefore, Bilanzich had no liability. Moreover, even if it were assumed that the district court's decision had the effect of rescinding or voiding the Guaranty, Bilanzich would still be entitled to recover attorney's fees under the reciprocal attorney's fee statute. Both Bilanzich's Complaint and the JDL Action were "based upon" a written contract that allows at least one party to recover fees. It is not necessary to recovery under this statute that the lawsuit seek to enforce a written contract even though the JDL Action did so.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. THE GUARANTY CLEARLY CONTAINS AN ATTORNEY'S FEES PROVISION.

Pursuant to the Guaranty, Bilanzich agreed to “absolutely guarantee payment . . . of a Promissory Note” executed by REI with a current principal balance at the time the Guaranty was executed of \$2 Million. The Guaranty contained the following attorney’s fees provision:

This Guaranty includes all principal, interest, costs, expenses, and attorney’s fees incurred in collection of the Note and realization of the security.

In the court below, the Lonettis and JDL erroneously argued, without any supporting authority, that this provision only obligated Bilanzich to pay attorney’s fees incurred by the Lonettis and JDL in litigating with REI on the Note and did not obligate Bilanzich to pay attorney’s fees incurred by the Lonettis and JDL in attempting to recover on the Note by litigating with Bilanzich to recover on the Guaranty of the Note.

However, because Bilanzich guaranteed payment of the Note, the attorney’s fees incurred by JDL in seeking to recover on the Guaranty were in fact fees incurred in collecting the Note. Thus, in *Ashland Oil, Inc. v. Cardinal Fuels, Inc.*, 872 F.2d 416, 1989 WL 28404

(4th Cir. 1989), the court affirmed a judgment for attorney's fees where the guarantee agreement provided that the guarantor would pay "reasonable attorney's fees incurred in collection of the note." *Id.* at *2. [Quotation Omitted]

The Lonettis and JDL clearly understood this fact that they were entitled to recover attorney's fees from Bilanzich on the Guaranty if they prevailed. In JDL's complaint seeking to recover on the Guaranty, JDL prayed for recovery of attorney's fees. [R. 2501] Similarly, in their answer to Bilanzich's claims with respect to the Guaranty, the Lonettis prayed for attorney's fees. [R. 85]

In addition, the Note itself obligated REI to pay attorney's fees incurred by the Lonettis in collecting the Note. Thus, REI was liable for any fees incurred to recover on the Guaranty of the Note. Because Bilanzich was liable for all of REI's obligations under the Note, Bilanzich was also liable for the fees incurred in collecting the Guaranty of the Note. *Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Foley*, 560 A.2d 475 (Conn. App. 1989) involved this very situation. In *Foley*, the guarantor agreed to pay "any other charges, fees or expenses owed by the borrower under the loan agreement." *Id.* at 478 n.2. The note stated that the borrower was obligated to pay "reasonable attorney's fees incurred in collection of all or part of his note." *Id.* at 478. [Quotations Omitted] The court held that because the borrower was obligated to pay any attorney's fees incurred in collecting the note,

including attorney's fees incurred in collecting on the guarantee of the note, the guarantor
was likewise obligated to pay such attorney's fees.

Accordingly, the Guaranty clearly contained an attorney's fee provision which would have obligated Bilanzich to pay attorney fees had the Lonettis and JDL prevailed. Therefore, as the prevailing party, Bilanzich was entitled to recover his attorney's fees under Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56.5, which provides:

A court may award costs and attorney's fees to either party that prevails in a civil action based upon any promissory note, written contract, or other writing executed after April 28, 1986 where the provisions of the promissory note, written contract, or other writing allow at least one party to recover attorney's fees.

**B. THE FACT THAT THE DISTRICT COURT FOUND THE GUARANTY
TO BE UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE THE CONDITION PRECEDENT TO
LIABILITY HAD NOT OCCURRED DOES NOT DEFEAT BILANZICH'S
RIGHT TO RECOVER ATTORNEY'S FEES.**

Judge Shumate's order denying Bilanzich's motion for attorney's fees and costs does not expressly state the basis for the ruling. However, based on his statements at the summary judgment hearing and his request for supplemental briefing, Judge Shumate presumably denied the motion on the basis that his prior ruling that the Guaranty was unenforceable because the condition precedent of REI obtaining a \$3.5 Million

construction loan had not occurred also rendered the attorney's fees provision unenforceable. It is respectfully submitted that this ruling was in error.

In their supplemental memorandum in opposition to the motion for award of attorney's fees, the Lonettis and JDL relied upon the Supreme Court's decision in *BLT Investment Co. v. Snow*, 586 P.2d 456 (Utah 1978) for their argument that Bilanzich was not entitled to recover attorney's fees because the court had determined the Guaranty was unenforceable. *BLT* is clearly distinguishable.

In *BLT*, plaintiff sued for specific performance of a contract. The defendant sought rescission of the contract. The trial court granted rescission based upon a failure of a condition precedent to the effectiveness of the contract and awarded the defendant attorney's fees pursuant to a contractual provision. The Supreme Court affirmed the rescission order, but reversed the award of attorney's fees. The Court stated that a "party may not avoid the contract and, at the same time, claim the benefits of the provision for attorney's fees." *Id.* at 458.

In the case at bar, Bilanzich did not obtain an order rescinding the contract.² Bilanzich's defense did not go to whether the Guaranty contract had been formed and Judge Shumate's order did not void that contract. Instead, Bilanzich defended on the

² Bilanzich's rescission claim was dismissed by stipulation of the parties. *Cf. Bennett v. Baugh*, 985 P.2d 1282, 1284 (Or. 1999) (attorneys fees properly awarded where defendant sought rescission but judgment did not award it).

basis that he had no liability on the Guaranty because a condition precedent to his liability had never occurred. The failure of a condition precedent relieves a party of any obligation to perform under the contract. [R. 2409; 2421; 2435] *Kinsman v. Kinsman*, 748 P.2d 210, 213 (Utah App. 1988); *Downtown Athletic Club v. Horman*, 740 P.2d 275, 281 (Utah App. 1987). There is nothing inconsistent with Bilanzich arguing that he had no liability under his Guaranty because the \$3.5 Million construction loan was never obtained and Bilanzich arguing that he is entitled to recover attorney's fees incurred in establishing that he has no liability under his Guaranty and defending JDL's claim on the Guaranty. Further, *BLT* was decided before the enactment of Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56.5 which does not limit a party's entitlement to attorney fees based upon the nature of the claim or defense asserted by the party so long as the lawsuit is based upon a written contract which provides for attorney fees.

Moreover, even if it were assumed for argument that the district court's decision had the effect of rescinding or voiding the Guaranty, Bilanzich would still be entitled to recover attorney fees under Utah Code Ann. §78-27-56.5. That statute provides for attorney fees to the prevailing party in any action "based upon" a written contract that allows at least one party to recover attorney fees. It is not necessary to recovery under this statute that the lawsuit be to enforce a written contract. Certainly, JDL's complaint for recovery on the Guaranty and Bilanzich's claim for declaratory relief that he was not

liable on the Guaranty were civil actions “based upon” a written contract providing for attorney’s fees. By obtaining a judgment that he was not liable on the Guaranty on the basis that the Guaranty was unenforceable because the condition precedent to liability had not occurred, Bilanzich was undeniably the prevailing party in a suit based upon the written Guaranty.

In *Anglin v. Contracting Fabrication Machining, Inc.*, 2001 UT App. 341, ¶11, 37 P.3d 267, this court recognized that the purpose of this §78-27-56.5 was to “creat[e] a level playing field for all parties to a promissory note.” See also *Hsu v. Abbata*, 891 P.2d 804, 809 (Cal. 1995) (California’s reciprocal attorney’s fees statute was “enacted to establish mutuality of remedy where a contractual provision makes recovery of attorney’s fees available for only one party, and to prevent oppressive use of one-sided attorney’s fees provisions”). Had JDL and the Lonettis prevailed, they would have been entitled to attorney fees as they alleged in their pleadings. Having defeated their claims, and established that he was not liable on the Guaranty, Bilanzich should be awarded his attorney’s fees to create a level playing field.

Although Bilanzich has been unable to find any Utah cases directly on point, courts in other states have held that attorney’s fees were properly awarded under reciprocal attorney fee statutes even when rescission of a contract was obtained.

In *Bovard v. American Horse Enterprises, Inc.*, 247 Cal. Rptr. 340-346 (Cal. App. 1988), the court held that under California's reciprocal attorney's fees statute, a party prevailing on a claim that a contract is inapplicable, invalid, unenforceable, or non-existent is entitled to recover attorney's fees if the opposing party would have been entitled to recover attorney's fees had it prevailed unless the contract is held unenforceable because of illegality. Likewise, in *Yuba Cypress Housing Partners, Ltd. v. Area Developers*, 120 Cal. Rptr.2d 273, 277 (Cal. App. 2002), the court held that a plaintiff who successfully voided a contract was nevertheless entitled to recover attorney's fees under the attorney's fee provision in the contract. Thus, in *Hsu v. Abbata*, *supra*, the California Supreme Court stated:

It is now settled that a party is entitled to attorney's fees under Section 1717 even when the party prevails on grounds the contract is inapplicable, invalid, unenforceable or non-existent if the other party would have been entitled to attorney's fees had it prevailed. 891 P.2d at 808 [Quotations and Citation Omitted]

To the same effect, see Carey v. Wallner, 725 P.2d 557, 562 (Mont. 1986) (under Montana's reciprocal attorney's fee statute, plaintiff was entitled to recover attorney's fees and costs incurred in successfully rescinding a purchase contract); *Hackney v. Sunset Beach Investments*, 644 P.2d 138, 142 (Wash. App. 1982) (the court reversed the trial court's refusal to award the purchasers attorney's fees incurred in successfully bringing a

rescission action under the Washington reciprocal attorney's fees statute which applied to "any action on a contract" that provided for attorney's fees).³

JDL and its sole members, the Lonettis, attempted to recover millions of dollars from Bilanzich on his Guaranty. Had they prevailed, they would have been entitled to recover the attorney's fees for which they prayed. However, Bilanzich successfully proved he was not liable on the Guaranty. Bilanzich is therefore entitled to recover attorney's fees under §78-27-56.5.