2004

Michael T. Bilanzich v. John Lonetti, Eunes I. Lonetti, JDL Holdings, L.L.C. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court correctly denied Bilanzich's motion for an award of attorney fees. Its previous ruling granting partial summary judgment for Bilanzich nullified the Guaranty and thus precluded Bilanzich from thereafter relying on the Guaranty to claim an award of attorney fees against Lonetti. In making this determination the trial court faithfully followed established precedent of our appellate courts and reached the decision mandated by such precedent—that one cannot avoid a contractual obligation by having it declared unenforceable and then rely on that very contract to claim an attorney fees award.

There are at least two alternative grounds for affirmance. *First*, the Guaranty at issue does not provide for an attorney fees award. In Utah, attorney fees are awardable only if authorized by statute or contract.” R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, ¶17, 40 P.3d 1119 (citation omitted). When authorized by contract, attorney fees “are awardable only in accordance with the explicit terms of the contract and only to the extent permitted by the contract.” Wardley Corp. v. Welsh, 962 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (citation and quotation omitted). The Guaranty makes passing reference to attorney fees but does not specifically provide for an attorney fees award in litigation concerning the Guaranty itself. Under Utah law, this is fatal to a claim for attorney fees arising out of a contract.

Additionally, under the plain language of the reciprocal attorney fees statute, at least one party to an agreement must be entitled to attorney fees before the other party

can claim a reciprocal right to attorney fees. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5 (2002). Because the Guaranty contains no provision for an award to Lonetti in litigation concerning the Guaranty, Bilanzich cannot claim a reciprocal right to recover attorney fees under section 78-27-56.5. This is so, regardless of whether or not Lonetti may have sought recovery of his own attorney fees incurred to enforce the Guaranty against Bilanzich. See Fericks v. Soffe, 2004 UT 85, ¶25, 100 P.3d 1200.

Second, Bilanzich's motion for attorney fees is contrary to his settlement agreement with Lonetti. Bilanzich agreed to dismiss his remaining claims against Lonetti if Lonetti agreed to forego an appeal of the trial court's entry of partial summary judgment. In essence, both parties agreed to lay down their weapons and go their separate ways. However, once Lonetti dropped his weapon, Bilanzich continued the battle he agreed to walk away from by filing his motion seeking \$89,000-plus in attorney fees and costs. Bilanzich's decision to continue the litigation by seeking attorney fees from Lonetti is a breach of that agreement. Under Utah law, this Court may summarily enforce that agreement by affirming the trial court's order denying Bilanzich's motion.

In this regard, settlement agreements are governed by the basic rules of contract law. Therefore, at a minimum, this issue requires remand to the trial court to determine whether there was in fact a meeting of the minds sufficient to constitute an agreement to settle the case. Thus, even if this Court determines that Bilanzich is entitled to attorney fees under the Guaranty or reciprocal fees statute, it cannot remand to the trial court with instructions to award such fees without first requiring the trial court to address the settlement issue.

ARGUMENT

I. BILANZICH HAS NO LEGAL BASIS TO RECOVER ATTORNEY FEES UNDER THE GUARANTY OR THE RECIPROCAL FEES STATUTE.

A. The Guaranty Does Not Provide For An Attorney Fees Award.

Bilanzich first argues that the Guaranty contains an attorney fees provision. This argument is meritless. “In Utah, attorney fees are awardable only if authorized by statute or contract.” R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, ¶17, 40 P.3d 1119 (citation omitted). When authorized by contract, attorney fees “are awardable only in accordance with the explicit terms of the contract and only to the extent permitted by the contract.” Wardley Corp. v. Welsh, 962 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (quoting Maynard v. Wharton, 912 P.2d 446, 451 (Utah Ct. App. 1996)).

The only provision in the Guaranty that references attorney fees is the last sentence in the second paragraph which states: “This Guaranty includes all principal, interest, costs, expenses, and attorney fees incurred in collection of the Note and realization of the security.” The Note is a reference to the promissory note and Modification between Reese’s Enterprises, Inc. and Lonetti. The security referenced in the Guaranty, is not the Guaranty itself, it is the trust deed referenced in the Note and Modification. Bilanzich is not a party to the Note, the Modification, or the trust deed referenced therein.

There is no ambiguity with regard to the subject provision of the Guaranty. Bilanzich has simply guaranteed payment of principal, interest, cost, expenses, and attorney fees incurred in any collection of the Note and realization of the security

thereunder. What the Guaranty does not provide and cannot be construed to mean, however, is that the prevailing party in litigation to enforce the Guaranty is entitled to an award of attorney fees.

Cases wherein recovery of attorney fees has been founded upon contractual language have routinely and without fail involved contracts which contain unambiguous and clear reference to recovery of fees by the prevailing party as a result of some triggering mechanism contained within the terms of the contract at issue. See Kraatz v. Heritage Imports, 2003 UT App 201, ¶23, 71 P.3d 201, *cert. denied*, 84 P.3d 239 (Utah 2003) (providing “defaulting party shall pay all expenses and costs incurred by the other party in enforcing the terms hereof”); Chase v. Scott, 2001 UT App 404, ¶11, 38 P.3d 1001 (providing for attorney fees in “litigation . . . to enforce” the contract); Keith Jorgensen’s, Inc. v. Ogden City Mall Co., 2001 UT App 128, ¶¶25-26, 26 P.3d 872 (providing for award of attorney fees if one party “institutes any action or proceeding against the other relating to the provisions of this Lease or any default hereunder”); Equitable Life & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ross, 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (providing “the prevailing party to such resulting action shall have a right to recover from the non-prevailing party any and all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees”); Carr v. Enoch Smith Co., 781 P.2d 1292, 1296 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (providing that party failing to perform agreement “agrees to pay all expenses of *enforcing this agreement*, or of any right arising out of the breach thereof, including a reasonable attorney’s fee”) (emphasis original)).

Rather than relying on the terms of the Guaranty or Utah law governing attorney fee awards, Bilanzich relies on two non-Utah cases in support of his argument—neither of which are on point or persuasive. He cites Ashland Oil, Inc. v. Cardinal Fuels, Inc., 872 F.2d 416 (4th Cir. 1989) (*unpublished table decision*)⁷ for the proposition that the language in the Guaranty de facto establishes a right to an award of attorney fees by a guarantor in his position. (Br. at 9-10.) However, the court in Ashland Oil does not provide any analysis or discussion of the substantive law governing an award of attorney fees under the agreement it was addressing—in fact, the court does not even quote from or provide an excerpt of the agreement containing the fee provision at issue. See 1989 WL 28404 **2. This is hardly the type of analysis that would mandate or justify a departure from clearly established Utah law.

The same must be said of the court’s analysis in the other case relied upon by Bilanzich, Connecticut National Bank v. Foley, 560 A.2d 475 (Conn. App. Ct. 1989). (Br. at 10-11.) There, in reference to an attorney fees award to a guarantor, the court stated that “[t]his claim requires little discussion[,]” id. at 478, and it provides none. Significantly, the case has never been cited in a published decision for the proposition that Bilanzich advances here. Thus, while the contractual language in Foley may bear some similarity to the Guaranty at issue here, without more, it is not enough to displace the rules governing recovery of attorney fees under a contract pursuant to Utah law.

Finally, Bilanzich baldly asserts that Lonetti’s prayer for recovery of attorney fees from Bilanzich constitutes some type of admission that the Guaranty provides for an

⁷ For the Court’s convenience, a copy of Ashland Oil is attached as Addendum E.

award of attorney fees. (Br. at 10.) This is also a meritless assertion. Attorney fees are not recoverable merely because one party has prayed for the same in their complaint. See Fericks v. Soffe, 2004 UT 85, ¶25, 100 P.3d 1200. Allegations or relief sought in a complaint do not replace language in a contract. See id. Moreover, the complaint against Bilanzich, while generally seeking recovery of attorney fees, does not specifically allege that such fees are recoverable under the terms of the Guaranty. (R. 2499-2501.) Thus, this Court must reject Bilanzich’s meritless attempt to create a fees provision out of whole cloth by supplanting language in a contract with a general prayer for relief in a complaint.

In sum, the Guaranty does not contain an attorney fees provision that would entitle Bilanzich to an award of attorney fees incurred in litigation involving the Guaranty. Therefore, this Court can summarily affirm the trial court on this basis alone.

B. Without An Underlying Contract Providing For An Attorney Fees Award, Bilanzich Has No Claim For Recovery Of Fees Under The Reciprocal Attorney Fees Statute.

Bilanzich next argues that Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5 entitles him to an award of attorney fees. (Br. at 11.) The plain language and threshold requirement of reciprocal recovery of attorney fees under section 78-27-56.5 is that at least one party to the agreement be entitled to attorney fees in litigation concerning the agreement. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5 (2002) (reciprocal right to fees exists only where “at least one party” has right to recover fees). Section 78-27-56.5 does not provide and cannot be stretched to mean that the simple mention of the term “attorney fees” in an agreement

gives any party the right to an award of attorney fees if it is a prevailing party in litigation involving that agreement.

Because the Guaranty does not provide for an award of attorney fees to Lonetti against Bilanzich in litigation concerning the Guaranty, the reciprocal attorney fees statute provides no basis for such an award to Bilanzich. Therefore, Bilanzich is not entitled to his attorney fees under section 78-27-56.5.

To be sure, Bilanzich asserts in his issue statement and implies in the substance of his brief that the Modification provides some basis for an award of attorney fees to Bilanzich under section 78-27-56.5. (Br. at 1, 10.) This argument, whether express or implied, is without merit for two reasons.

First, as set forth in detail above, it is undisputed that Bilanzich is not a party to the Note or the Modification. In Anglin v. Contracting Fabrication Machining, Inc., 2001 UT App 341, 37 P.3d 267, this Court addressed this same situation and held that the reciprocal right to recover attorney fees on a promissory note or other writing under section 78-27-56.5 is limited and restricted “to include only the parties to the original promissory note, not any party to the litigation.” *Id.* at ¶10. Because Bilanzich is not a party to the Note or the Modification, he has no right to recover attorney fees under section 78-27-56.5.

Second, the Modification is not subject to section 78-27-56.5. Rather, it is subject to Nevada law (*see* Add. A ¶4) which does not have a reciprocal attorney fees statute. See Nev. Rev. Stat. 18.010 (governing award of attorney’s fees); see also Pandelis Construction Co., Inc. v. Jones-Viking Assocs., 734 P.2d 1236, 1238 n.3 (Nev. 1987)

(holding that an attorney fees provision which by its terms applies only to one party to an agreement must be enforced as written no matter how unfair that result). Moreover, as in Utah, see Wardley, 962 P.2d at 92, in Nevada, a court can only award attorney fees to actual parties to the agreement containing an attorney fees provision—not any party to the litigation concerning the agreement. See Wyatt v. Bowers, 747 P.2d 881, 884 (Nev. 1987).

Thus, to the extent Bilanzich claims his fees based on the Modification or Note in connection with Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5, his claims must be rejected.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT ITS PRIOR RULING DECLARING THE GUARANTY A NULLITY DEPRIVES BILANZICH OF ANY CLAIM TO ATTORNEY FEES.

Even if this Court determines that the Guaranty does contain an attorney fees provision, the trial court correctly concluded that its prior ruling declaring the Guaranty a nullity deprives Bilanzich of any claim to an award of attorney fees under the Guaranty.

Under Utah law, a party that successfully avoids or nullifies a contract cannot, at the same time, claim the benefit of an attorney fees provision in the contract. The seminal and controlling case on this issue is BLT Investment Co. v. Snow, 586 P.2d 456 (Utah 1978). In BLT, the plaintiff sought specific performance of a written contract with the defendant. See id. at 456. In defense, the defendant sought to rescind the contract. See id. The trial court, finding a failure of condition precedent to the effectiveness of the contract, ordered rescission of the same and also awarded the defendant his attorney fees pursuant to a provision in the contract providing for such fees. See id. at 457-58.

The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's rescission of the contract but reversed the award of attorney fees. See id. at 456. In reversing the attorney fees award, the supreme court adopted the rule that a party "may not avoid the contract and, at the same time, claim the benefits of the provision for attorney fees." Id. at 458 (citation omitted). This rule applies here.

Bilanzich avoided the Guaranty by having it nullified and declared unenforceable. That ruling, as observed by the trial court at the May 4 hearing, constitutes the law of the case. (R. 2248 Tr. 6:20-22.) See also Thurston v. Box Elder County, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995) (stating "a decision made on an issue during one stage of a case is binding in successive stages of the same litigation"). Under BLT and the law of the case doctrine, Bilanzich cannot claim the benefit of an attorney fees provision under a Guaranty he previously avoided by having the trial court declare the same unenforceable.

Although BLT was decided prior to the enactment of Utah's reciprocal attorney fees statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5,⁸ subsequent case law makes clear that BLT has survived the enactment of 78-27-56.5, and is the current state of law in Utah on this issue. See, e.g., Chase v. Scott, 2001 UT App 404, ¶14, 38 P.3d 1001 (stating "because the party had successfully rescinded the contract, the contract no longer existed, and therefore they could no longer rely upon any of its terms." (quoting BLT, 586 P.2d at 458)).

⁸ Section 78-27-56.5 is applicable to cases involving contracts executed after April 29, 1986. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-56.5 (2002). BLT was decided in 1978.

In Chase v. Scott, the party seeking fees under the contract at issue mounted a *successful defense* to an action for rescission of that contract. See id. at ¶14. This Court determined that the party mounting the successful defense to rescission is entitled to an award of attorney fees under the contract because the contract remains in force and effect. See id. at ¶¶16-17. The court then expressly determined that this holding was consistent with both BLT **and** section 78-27-56.5.

This Court recognized that “[t]he [supreme] court reasoned [in BLT] because the party [seeking fees] had successfully rescinded the contract, the contract no longer existed, and therefore they could no longer rely upon any of its terms.” Id. at ¶14. It then stated that “our [holding] would be consistent with BLT limiting awards under this type of contractual provision to only those parties who successfully defend against rescission and thus enforce the contract.” Id. ¶16. The court of appeals determined that its holding was consistent with the reciprocal attorney fees statute because either party would be entitled to attorney fees if they successfully defended against rescission. See id.

Thus, according to Chase, had either party in the instant case successfully defeated an attempt by the other party to have the Guaranty declared unenforceable, he would have been entitled to fees under the Guaranty because the Guaranty would have survived and remained in place.⁹ However, where, as here, the Guaranty is declared unenforceable and is a nullity, BLT and Chase foreclose any right Bilanzich may have had to obtain his attorney fees based on the Guaranty.

⁹ Of course, as set forth above in Point I, we maintain that under Utah law, the Guaranty contains no provision awarding attorney fees to any party in litigation concerning the Guaranty. We only assume it does here for purposes of analysis under Point II.

In sum, the trial court declared the Guaranty unenforceable. This was a result of Bilanzich's own motion that allowed him to avoid his obligations under the Guaranty. Because the Guaranty has been avoided and is of no force or effect, Bilanzich cannot rely upon its terms to obtain an award of attorney fees. The trial court correctly denied Bilanzich's motion for fees on this basis. This Court must affirm.

III. BILANZICH'S MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES IS CONTRARY TO HIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH LONETTI.

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